
 
July 21, 2021 Board Meeting 

Table of Contents 

Page 3  July 21, 2021 TCD Meeting Agenda 
Page 5   June 16, 2021 TCD Board Meeting Minutes 
Page 9    June 2021 TCD Treasurer’s Report 
 
Staff Reports and Supplemental Materials:   
 
Page 21 Emily Hagedorn-Wegher Staff Report  
 
Page 23 Robb Sgroi Staff Report 
Page 25  SWPP Agreement Flat Creek Channel Restoration Phase II  
Page 45  SWPP Amendment Flat Creek Restoration  
 
Page 49 Morgan Graham Staff Report       
 
Page 51 Emily Smith Staff Report 
 
Page 53 Carlin Girard Staff Report 
 
Page 55 Phoebe Coburn Staff Report 
Page 59  Voices JH Messaging Examples 
 
Page 61 Tom Segerstrom Staff Report 
Page 63  FCWID Appointment Approval 
Page 64  FCWID Board Application 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

1



2



Teton Conservation District (TCD) June 2021 Board Meeting 
July 21, 2021 at 1:00 p.m.  | Location: 420 W. Pearl Ave., Jackson  

 
TCD Board and the public are invited to join the meeting in-person at our office at 420 W. Pearl Ave. or online.  

 
VIDEO CONFERENCE INVITATION 

If joining the meeting by computer or tablet, go to: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89897605539 
If joining the meeting by phone, dial one of the following phone numbers: (669) 900-6833, (253) 215 8782 
If calling by phone, you will be prompted to enter this Meeting ID: 846 1709 0292 
 

MEETING MEMBERS: 
TCD Board Members: Steve McDonald, Dave Adams, Nate Fuller, Bob Lucas, and Roby Hurley 
TCD Associate Board Members: Tom Breen, Elizabeth Barczynski, and Bob Weiss 
TCD Staff: Emily Hagedorn, Robb Sgroi, Morgan Graham, Carlin Girard, Phoebe Coburn, Tom Segerstrom, and Emily 
Smith 
Partners and Guests: Luther Propst (Teton County Commissioner), Adam Clark (Natural Resource Conservation 
Service), Mary Moore & Todd Styles (Bridger-Teton National Forest) 
 

AGENDA: 
 
Agency Reports, Guests, and Public Comment                         20 minutes 

Luther Propst (Teton County Commissioner) 
Adam Clark (Natural Resource Conservation Service)  
Mary Moore (Bridger-Teton National Forest)  

 
Minutes and Treasurer’s Report                              10 minutes  

 
Board Reports                               10 minutes  
 
Staff Reports and Action Items                                        60 minutes   

Small Water Project Program Agreements  
USGS Flat Creek Sediment Study Funding 
Voices JH Partnership 
COVID Benefit Carry Over 
FCWID Board Appointment  

 
Old and New Business                               10 minutes  
   
Executive Session:                            10 minutes 
      
(Move to enter into executive session under Wyoming State Statute 15-1-1-5 and 16-4-405 for the purpose of discussing one or more 
of the following: legal consultation and matters, appointment and personnel matters, national security, licensing or examinations, real 
estate transactions, donations, or other information classified as confidential by law.) 
 

3

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89897605539


4



 

1 
 

Teton Conservation District (TCD) June 2021 Board Meeting Minutes  
 June 16, 2021 | 420 W. Pearl Ave., Jackson, WY 

 
Attendees: 
TCD Board Supervisors: Steve McDonald, Roby Hurley, Dave Adams, Nate Fuller 
TCD Associate Board Members: Bob Weiss 
TCD Staff: Tom Segerstrom, Carlin Girard, Emily Hagedorn, Robb Sgroi, Morgan Graham, 
Phoebe Coburn, Emily Smith  
Guests: Adam Clark* (Natural Resources Conservation Service), Luther Propst* (Teton County 
Board of County Commissioners), Renee Seidler* (Jackson Hole Wildlife Foundation) 

*Online Participant  

Call to Order: Steve called the meeting to order at 1:07 p.m.  
 
Guest Reports and Public Comment:  
 
Luther Propst, Teton County Board of County Commissioners (TCBCC): 1) Luther summarized 
aspects of the proposed FY 2022 Teton County budget, scheduled to be approved on June 29, 
2021. Items discussed included the wildfire risk reduction position and resource management, 
which may be partially funded by TCD, and improvements at the Wilson boat launch area. 
TCBCC chose not to hire a water quality expert, however they intend to hire a project manager 
position under the Public Works Department who can work on water quality along with other 
projects such as roads and pathways. 2) Wildfire season is coming up; wildfire danger is high. 3) 
Interagency breakfast meetings will be held in-person starting June 22, 2021. 4) Roby asked 
about a recent article in the Jackson Hole News & Guide regarding county spending, specifically 
that $500,000 was dedicated to water quality planning in the FY 2022 draft budget. Luther 
offered clarification that funds did not include funding for a water quality position. Luther also 
offered context on POWJH’s match for wastewater quality planning position. 5) There was a 
follow-up discussion on the letter submitted by the TCD board to TCBCC requesting that the 
county dedicate staff time to lidar use rules or guidelines. Luther requested that TCD request a 
workshop to improve TCBCC’s understanding of lidar and the request.  
 
Adam Clark, Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS): 1) Janessa Julson is temporarily 
leading the NRCS Pinedale office. 2) Adam visited some sites in the Hoback area; landowners 
are concerned about drought, with some water shortages on the Porcupine Plateau. Every county 
in Wyoming except Teton and Lincoln counties are in a designated drought. 3) Applications are 
being accepted for the Conservation Stewardship Program (CSP), a NRCS grant program for 
landowners implementing conservation projects.  
  
Board Reports: 1) Roby suggested a Town of Jackson liaison join TCD board meetings. 2) Bob 
Weiss talked about his experience driving the Chevy Bolt electric car that was offered for test 
driving by Lower Valley Energy and Energy Conservation Works, and funded by TCD.   

FY 2022 Budget Hearing: Steve called the FY 2022 Budget Hearing to order at 1:33 p.m. Roby 
informed the board that the Town of Jackson’s ecosystem stewardship position is expected to be 
fully funded by the town; additional TCD funding is not needed. Emily distributed hardcopies of 

5



 

2 
 

the final draft budget, which included an updated estimate of Carryover Funds and Partnering 
Funds. Under the Water Program budget, $190K was added to the “Town-Cnty Water Programs” 
line item for Town-County Waste & Stormwater Planning($115K) and the Berger Lane Thaw 
Well($75K). Dave clarified that TCD funding is generally dedicated to infrastructure projects, 
but thought a funding option for county water quality staff should be retained. Roby was not in 
favor of providing funding for either town or county water quality staff. There was discussion on 
rising property taxes and projected FY 21 mill levy amount compared to actual. Dave suggested 
dropping the mill levy from 0.85 to .8. Dave expressed concerns about the Operating Reserves 
Account balance. Nate moved to close the Public Budget Hearing at 2:15. Dave seconded. 
The motion carried unanimously.  

Board Reports (cont.): 1) Roby participated in a Trout Unlimited streambank restoration 
project on Swift Creek in Lincoln County. 2) Dave, Tom, Roby, and Luther visited a low-
nitrogen supplemental treatment septic system in Wilson. Final data on efficacy is pending. 3) 
Roby and Tom met with the Teton County Planning Department to review comments on the final 
draft of the wildlife-friendly fencing regulations. They discussed the state vs. county definition 
of agriculture. Roby reported this is the beginning of Natural Resource Protection Land 
Development Regulations updates. 

May 19, 2021 Meeting Minutes:  Dave moved to approve the May 19, 2021 Board Meeting 
Minutes. Nate seconded. The motion carried unanimously. 

May 2021 Treasurer’s Report: Dave reviewed the May 2021 Treasurer’s Report.  
- Checks numbering 19982-20029 dated May 1-31, 2021: $216,302.97 
- Credit card charges: $2,463.33 
- Net credits for the month: $183,196.47 
- Operating Reserves Account Balance: $501,079.65 
- Committed Funds Savings Account: $517,988.94 
- Reconciled General Fund Checking Balance: $735,483.07  

 
Dave asked why the disbursement for the Jensen Canyon Project was not shown in the report. 
Emily Hagedorn-Wegher relayed that the funds were not transferred from the Committed Funds 
account during the May 2021 reporting period. Nate moved to approve the May 2021 
Treasurer’s Report. Roby seconded. The motion carried unanimously. 
 
Staff Reports: Please refer to the previous month’s board packet to find information items 
included in written staff reports that were not discussed during the meeting.  

Emily Hagedorn-Wegher (Administrative Manager): Dave moved to approve the TCD FY 
2022 Fiscal Year Budget with the changes discussed at the Public Hearing, including 
reducing the mill levy request to .8 mill request, and authorize the mill levy request letter to 
be sent to the Teton County Treasurer reflecting this change. Nate seconded. Roby said he 
was fine with the reduction in the mill levy, but indicated he still did not want to leave the 
funding available to the County because he didn’t feel it would be acted upon this year. Roby 
proposed moving the $60,000 dedicated to Teton County to Partnering funds so it is available for 
other projects. The board agreed with Roby’s change. Roby proposed adding specificity to the 
line-item tiled “Town of Jackson” under Planning & Development. The board agreed with 
Roby’s change. The motion passed unanimously. 

6



 

3 
 

 
Information Items: Roby will not be able to attend the July 2021 meeting.  
 
Robb Sgroi (Land Resources Specialist): Information Items: 1) Robb reported that there are 
reports of Douglas firs with browning needles in Snake River Canyon and other locations. Robb 
suspects it could be foliage disease. Robb said more diagnosis work needs to be done before 
determining the cause. 2) Robb said above normal fire behavior is expected earlier in the season 
than normal. There are concerns about evacuation safety with road congestion. 3) There are 
many requests for wildlife risk reduction services; Robb is working with targeted areas. 4) Robb 
discussed the University of Wyoming Haub School students’ report on local agriculture in Teton 
County and surrounding region. One of the students is going to continue work on exploring 
opportunities to modify building codes, specifically seasonal high tunnels. 5) Roby said he was 
available to provide a review for a Commercial Use Permit for a cidery to the county.  
 
Morgan Graham (GIS & Wildlife Specialist): Morgan presented two action items for event 
sponsorships: 1) Wyoming Wildlife Society Annual meeting: Nate moved to allocate $1,000 
from the Communications Program Area, Events line-item of the FY 2022 TCD budget 
towards sponsorship of WY-TWS 2021 Annual Meeting. Dave second. The motion passed 
unanimously. 2) Aspen Days Event: Nate moved to allocate $500 from the Communications 
Program Area, Events line-item of the FY 2022 TCD budget towards sponsorship of the 
Wyoming Game and Fish Department’s 2021 Aspen Days event. Dave seconded. The 
motion passed unanimously. Morgan said a public talk in the Town of Jackson may be included 
as part of the Aspen’s Day event.  
 
Information Items: Morgan discussed strategies for presenting lidar information and associated 
request for staff time to the Teton County Board of County Commissioners at a future workshop.  
 
Carlin Girard (Water Resources Specialist & Associate Director): Carlin introduced an action 
item regarding Teton County’s update to their small wastewater facility regulations. Steve caught 
a typo; he will follow up with Carlin. Steve is not comfortable with the wording in point number 
three of the letter. Roby moved to approve the Board Chair to sign the comment letter, 
including final edits by the Board Chair, pertaining to Teton County’s draft Small 
Wastewater Facility regulations. Dave seconded. Nate asked for clarification on the content of 
the letter regarding the existing setback. Steve recommended that language be added to the letter 
specifying site conditions. Carlin suggesting changing the wording to “waterbody setback” rather 
than “setback.” The board and staff agreed. The motion passed unanimously. 
 
Information Items: 1) Carlin provided updated stream gage plots to the board. Carlin expressed 
concern for the water year considering it is only mid-June and he suspects some tributary streams 
could run dry. Flagg Ranch and the Gros Ventre River are quickly approaching minimum flows 
ever recorded. Soil conditions are the driest they have been in 10 years. Carlin noted that a 
reservoir below the Wood River in Idaho is dry and water has been shut off to irrigators—
months earlier than normal. Carlin reported he’s gotten a lot of calls about blue-green algae 
concerns, though Carlin has not seen any himself. Lack of dilution contributing to algae growth 
was discussed. Carlin said partly due to American Falls dam construction, more water will be 
drawn from Jackson Lake later in the season than usual. Adam said he has received phone calls 

7



 

4 
 

regarding wells and springs going dry that have never gone dry before. Dave asked about 
opportunities to sample groundwater wells, especially in areas such as Ditch Creek, South Park, 
and other areas with slow recharge. Carlin said the groundwater monitoring array is mostly on 
the West Bank, however he has been exploring monitoring a selection of municipal and existing 
wells this year. Nate asked if Carlin could run an analysis to compare 2010 to current data. 2) A 
West Bank landowner is interested in conducting some surface water monitoring on his property 
in the context of application of biosolids. 3) Carlin reported that the Teton County Health 
Department posted E. coli warning signs regarding recreational full body contact exceedances.  
 
Emily Smith (Natural Resources Technician): Information Items: 1) Emily reported on the 
Vegetation GIS (VGS) software training and range data entry.  
 
Phoebe Coburn (Communications Specialist): Phoebe introduced an action item regarding a 
reallocation of matching grant funds. Nate moved to approve a reallocation of matching grant 
funds for the FY21 PIC Grant titled “Don't Feed the Wildlife Public Awareness 
Campaign” to allow for up to $1,250 to be reallocated from brochures to advertising. Dave 
seconded. The motion carried unanimously.  
 
Information Items: 1) The board watched the new “What is Teton Conservation District?” 
whiteboard video, which board and staff are excited to use as an outreach tool. 2) There was 
brief discussion on progress of the Good Resident Handbook Project.  
 
Tom Segerstrom (Executive Director): [An action item, Environmental Stewardship Position, 
was handled during the Budget hearing and reviewed above.]  
The board discussed the Wyoming Association of Conservation Districts (WACD) Legal Fund. 
There was discussion on the communication Tom received from WACD that they would 
envision using the funds for legal actions associated with Waters of the United States (WOTUS) 
management. Dave offered support for making a contribution. There was also discussion on 
other reasons, such as a Public Information Request, that the fund may be accessed. Dave moved 
to contribute $5,000 to the Legal fund out of FY 22. Nate seconded. The motion passed 
unanimously.  
 
Adjournment: Dave moved to adjourn the meeting at 3:50 p.m. Roby seconded. The 
motion passed unanimously. 

 
Submitted by:          
  Phoebe Coburn          Date  
Supervisor:           
                                    Date 
Supervisor:           
                                                                                                    Date 
Supervisor:          

                                                                            Date 

8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



Emily Hagedorn-Wegher, Administrative Manager 
 
Information Items:  
Operations Area: Administration  

• Final Fiscal Year 2022 Budget Status: We are finalizing the numbers from the end of 
Fiscal Year 2021. Once that information is complete, the FY22 Budget will be submitted 
prior to the July 31, 2021, deadline to the Wyoming Department of Audit, the Teton 
County Commissioners, Wyoming Department of Agriculture and WACD as well. A 
final budget copy will be posted on our TCD website. I will have a tally of the final 
budget spent numbers from FY21 available soon. Just to note, because of the way the 
TCD Budget is reported to the Wyoming Department of Audit, we have to zero out the 
Committed Funds account at the end of the Fiscal Year. You’ll see the new Committed 
Funds beginning balance deposited in the first week of July 2021. 

• Annual TCD Required Audit: Once again we will be embarking on completing our 
annual audit process. The firm of Jones Simkins out of Logan, UT will be guiding us 
through the steps, as they have done several times. We’ve arranged for the bulk of the 
audit to be performed August 2-4, 2021, and it will be a remote audit. It worked well last 
year, and I think it should go smoothly. I am beginning to feed them information and get 
things set up, including tightening up our FY21 records, and finalizing financial 
information in our QuickBooks program. 

• TCD Records Management: We are now in a new fiscal year, FY22, and I have set up 
the new records binders for the year. I’ll be updating our FY22 Insurance Binder, and 
other informational binders as needed. I’m starting to throw out some of TCD’s out dated 
records and recycle some of our old information binders (credit card information 
binder10 years+). I’ll continue to archive old check records and other information, 
purging aged or duplicate information as necessary.  

• WACD/WDA Annual Requirements: Our next Base Funding requirements deadline is 
August 30, 2021. I’m collecting, organizing, and getting our information ready to submit. 
There is another deadline with additional information due December 31, 2021. 

• Flat Creek Watershed Improvement District (FCWID): It appears to be another 
election year for the FCWID. The positions currently held by Sandy Buckstaff, Johnny 
Ziem, Derek Ellis, and LizAnn Eisen (if she is approved as a Board member, replacing 
Nanette Beckley), will be on the ballot. Phoebe and I met with Sandy Buckstaff and Deb 
Barracato regarding election timelines and responsibilities. Deb and I will be going over 
the FCWID records to make sure all their requirements have been met for 2020, and are 
being met for 2021.    
 

Upcoming 2021 TCD Calendar of Events: 
July 21   Regular TCD Board Meeting at TCD 1pm – via Zoom/Office 
Aug. 18  Regular TCD Board Meeting at TCD 1pm – via Zoom/Office 
Aug. 30-31  NACD Southwest and Regional Meeting  Snow King Resort, Jackson 
Sept. 2   Area V Meeting in Afton, Wyoming  Hosted by Star Valley CD 
Sept. 15  Regular TCD Board Meeting at TCD 1pm – via Zoom/Office 
 

21



22



Robb Sgroi, Land Resources Specialist 
Action Items: 
Program Area: Land 
Small Water Project Programs (SWPP): TCD serves as the sponsor for the SWPP, within our 
district. Agreements between TCD and Wyoming Water Development Commission (WWDC) 
were executed for the four grants approved in March 2021. The next step is for agreements to be 
executed between TCD and the proponents of each of the four projects. Two of the four projects 
are being managed by Wyoming Game and Fish Department, and agreements have been 
prepared for signature from TCD’s Chairman. In addition, WWCD agreed to amend an existing 
agreement, to extend the term of the agreement. The two agreements, and amendment are 
available here. An example of one of the two agreements, and the amendment, are included in 
Supplemental Materials. 
Recommended Motion: Move to approve the two agreements, as well as the single amendment, 
and have the Chairman provide countersignatures on each agreement and amendment. 
Agreements are titled ‘South Flat Creek Fish Passage and Irrigation Improvement’ (Grantor 
Project No. 2021-07), ‘South Flat Creek Channel Restoration, Phase II’ (Grantor Project No. 
2021-06), and ‘South Flat Creek Fish Passage and Channel Restoration’- Amendment One to 
the Agreement (Grantor Project No. 2020-02).  
 
Information Items: 
Program Area: Land 

• Small Water Project Programs (SWPP): I would appreciate staff and board reaching 
out to their contacts to let them know of the opportunity to apply for SWPP grants this 
year. Draft applications developed by proponents are due to me by August 25, 2021.   
Per Wyoming Water Development Office’s (WWDO) advice, TCD made a written 
request to amend existing SWPP agreements, to eliminate the need for making public 
notices of final grant payments, for projects that are not public works. The 2021 
legislative session changed the state statute on this subject. WWDO is now working with 
sponsors to amend existing agreements to eliminate this task. This will save TCD dollars 
and staff time whenever amendments are requested.  
 

• Agricultural Cropland Projects: Alta resident Tavner Wilson approached TCD in May 
2021 with interest in acquiring a no-till drill. Thank you to Tom Breen and Bob Lucas for 
their ongoing advice on determining if TCD would support acquisition of this equipment. 
Tavner found and purchased a used drill quicker than expected. Future transportation and 
rebuild costs are anticipated. We expected Tavner to make a financial request to TCD at 
the August 2021 regular meeting.    
 

• Small Agriculture: I am actively working with agriculture stakeholders, who have 
interests in the community gardens, to 1) discuss interests and identify commonalities and 
2) be positioned to have a unified voice when discussing potential expansion of the May 
Garden and Blair Garden.  
 

 
• Planning and Development, Development Reviews: TCD received no requests for 

review of development from Teton County Planning.  

23

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1hEMot4Svm_38moKy9AUIOSIR5_32srXl?usp=sharing


Ongoing communication has been received from Teton County Long Range Planning on 
the amendment to wildlife friendly fencing, to which Tom has provided email responses. 
I observed the Planning Commission meeting, discussing the proposed variance and 
Commercial Use Permit for a home business winery use (Robert McGregor, Farmstead 
Ciders) at South Park Ranches. The meeting included a staff presentation, proponent 
presentation, and extensive discussion by the commission. Traffic, as well as expectations 
of types of uses in a residential area, were primary concerns. TCD’s earlier comment 
letter was referenced numerous times. The Planning Commission sided with the Staff 
Recommendation to deny the requests. The requests now move to the County 
Commissioners 

 
Program Area: Vegetation 

• TCD Wildfire Risk Reduction Program (WRRP): Primary efforts this month have 
been in conducting Wildfire Risk Overviews for residential landowners. We have had 
constructive discussions with ~15 landowners in the past three weeks. There has been a 
good intermix of Morgan and I referring landowners to each other for land restoration 
and wildfire risk reduction.  
Jackson Hole Fire/Emergency Medical Services (JHFEMS) is partway through seven 
weekly (Wednesday) public information booths to discuss wildfire risk issues. The 
booths are well distributed across the county. I spoke with JHFEMS to request they have 
specific focus if and when recommending people to TCD’s programs.  
I reached out to ~10 landowners who received a Wildfire Risk Overview in FY2021, 
were interested in implementing a project, but TCD had no additional funds available. 
The purpose was to let them know of funds now available in FY2022.  
 

Program Area: Administration 
• A draft plan of work for FY 2022, and related graphs and tables, were developed. 

 
Program Area: Sustainability 

• I contacted a Jackson Hole News and Guide reporter by email to inform them that there is 
a real time air quality monitoring station on High School Road for their reference when 
reporting on forest fire smoke levels in Jackson Hole. 
 
 

 
 

24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



2021 APPLICATION SMALL WATER PROJECT PROGRAM PAGE 1 OF 4 
VERSION: 8/13/2020 

2021 WATER DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM APPLICATION 
SMALL WATER PROJECT PROGRAM 

The purpose of the Small Water Project Program (SWPP) is to participate with land management agencies and 
sponsoring entities in providing incentives for improving watershed condition and function.  Projects eligible for grant 
funding assistance include the construction or rehabilitation of small reservoirs, wells, pipelines and conveyance 
facilities, springs, solar platforms, irrigation works, windmills, wetland developments, environmental (as defined in 
the Criteria), rural community fire suppression, and recreational.  Projects should improve watershed condition and 
function, and provide benefit for wildlife, livestock and the environment.  Projects must also benefit the public. Public 
benefits may be provided from improved: 

• Water quality
• Riparian habitat
• Water supplies to support plant and animal

species

• Habitat for fish and wildlife
• Natural resource conditions

Refer to the operating criteria of the SWPP which provides the Wyoming Water Development Commission (WWDC) 
and the Wyoming Water Development Office (WWDO) with general standards for evaluating and prioritizing 
applications for funding from the SWPP: 

http://wwdc.state.wy.us/small_water_projects/SWPPopCriteria.html 
Applications to this program must be received by January 1 of each calendar year.  Applications meeting criteria 
requirements will be considered during the regularly scheduled WWDC meeting in March. 

APPLICATION 
South Flat Creek Channel Restoration, Phase II 
1. Project Name

Teton Conservation District 307.733.2110 12.03.2020 
2. Applicant – Name of Entity 3. Phone 4. Date

420 West Pearl Avenue 
5. Physical Address (Street Address)

Jackson Teton WY 83001 
6. City 7. County 8. State 9. Zip Code

PO Box 1070 Jackson, WY 83001 
10. Mailing Address (If Different From Above)

If the application was prepared by someone other than the contact person, please provide the following: 

Anna Senecal WY Game and Fish Dept 307.733.2321 anna.senecal@wyo.gov 
17. Name 18. Affiliation 19. Phone 20. Email

Exhibit A to the Grant Recipient Agreement between  
the Wyoming Game and Fish Commission and 

Teton Conservation District 
Agency Agreement No.: R01165 / Grantor Project No. 2021-06 

Page 1 of 4

Exhibit A - South Flat Creek Channel Restoration, Phase II Project Application

THE STATE OF WYOMING 

Water Development Commission 
6920 YELLOWTAIL ROAD    TELEPHONE: (307) 777-7626    CHEYENNE, WY 82002 

32



2021 APPLICATION SMALL WATER PROJECT PROGRAM PAGE 2 OF 4 
VERSION: 8/13/2020 

21. Project Components (Please identify all applicable components.) ** = project centroid 

Type1 Quantity New 
Development Rehabilitation 

Latitude 
(Required) 

Longitude 
(Required) 

Small Reservoir      

Well      

Solar Platforms      

Pipeline      

Tank      

Spring Development      

Wetland   X 43.454591 ** -110.798559 ** 

Environmental       (PRIMARY)   X 43.454591 ** -110.798559 ** 

Irrigation      

Windmill      

Rural Community Fire Suppression      

Recreational        (WILDLIFE)   X 43.454591 ** -110.798559 ** 
1. The project types listed in the above table will be considered eligible as defined by the Small Water Projects Program Criteria.  Environmental 
projects are defined as those that provide for stream bank stability, water quality improvements, or erosion protection. 

22. Legal Description (Optional) 

40N _____________  116W _____________  6 ________________  SE 1/4 ____________  
 Township Range Section Quarter Section 

23. Project Description 
Planning for Small Water Projects may be generated by a WWDC watershed study.  Provide all information 
necessary to accurately describe the proposed project and its eligibility per operating criteria.  Additional information 
may be attached to this application as necessary. 
 
This application is to continue the stream restoration work supported by the WWDC (Project Agreement named ‘South Flat 
Creek Fish Passage & Channel Restoration Project) in Phase I of the South Flat Creek Fish Passage and Channel Restoration 
project.  Phase II shares similar goals, project objectives and technical scope of work.  This effort is aimed at restoring 
ecological function to a degraded section of Flat Creek while maintaining or improving ranch activities.  Phase II will address 
3,900 feet of Flat Creek as represented on pages C3.1-C3.4 of the engineers’ design plans, attached.  Project goals focus on 
improving instream habitat and water quality.  Wetland function will be improved through planting and fencing to support 
the regeneration of a woody shrub community consisting of multiple age classes, as well as off-channel emergent wetlands 
and swales.  Increased wetland function will benefit water quality and instream habitat conditions.  Additional 
environmental benefits will derive from restored reference channel conditions and pool-riffle sequences, reduced bank 
erosion and increased bank protection in the form of planting and bio-engineering.  Irrigation and pasture rotation practices 
are incorporated into the stream channel and fencing designs.  Irrigation abilities will be maintained and, to some degree 
enhanced with reduced maintenance needs and improved bank stability.   

24. Public Benefit 
Wyoming statute 99-3-1903(k)(viii)(c) and 99-3-1904(m)(viii)(c) requires all Small Water Project Sponsors to 
substantiate the public benefit that is to be derived from the proposed project.  Please provide all information 
necessary to accurately document public benefit from the proposed project.  Additional information may be attached 
as necessary. 
 

The project will benefit the public through improved water quality and fish habitat.  Flat Creek is listed as “impaired” by the 
Wyoming Department of Environmental Quality for high suspended sediment loading and degraded instream habitat.  This 

Exhibit A to the Grant Recipient Agreement between  
the Wyoming Game and Fish Commission and 

Teton Conservation District 
Agency Agreement No.: R01165 / Grantor Project No. 2021-06 

Page 2 of 4

33



2021 APPLICATION SMALL WATER PROJECT PROGRAM PAGE 3 OF 4 
VERSION: 8/13/2020 

project will improve water quality through the construction of wetlands which provide bio-filtration, the restoration of 
riparian communities and reference channel conditions which will promote bank stability and sediment continuity.  
Instream habitat will be improved by restoring appropriate channel widths, slopes, habitat features such as riffles and 
pools, and sinuosity. Increased function of spawning and rearing habitats on public lands promote greater recruitment of 
Snake River Cutthroat Trout to public fisheries upstream and downstream (Flat Creek on the National Elk Refuge, and the 
Snake River mainstem, respectively). 

25. Project Participants 
Please list all project participants (e. g.: District, NRCS, WWNRT, BLM, Landowner, etc.), and their type of 
participation (e.g.: technical, financial, project oversight, etc.). 

• Wyoming Game and Fish Department Habitat Trust Fund (financial, technical, oversight) 
• NRCS EQIP (financial, technical) 
• U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Partners for Fish and Wildlife Program (financial, technical) 
• Wyoming Wildlife Natural Resource Trust Fund (financial, $160,000 secured)  
• Jackson Hole One Fly (financial) 
• Western Native Trout Initiative (financial) 
• Community Foundation Jackson Hole (financial) 
• Jackson Hole Trout Unlimited (financial) 
• National Fish and Wildlife Foundation (financial) 

Teton Conservation District. TCD is a source of technical support for the landowners and project managers. TCD is 
providing SWPP grant administration support.  

26.  Who is the owner of the project?   Kelly and Elizabeth Lockhart 

27.  Who owns the land on which the project is to be built?   Kelly and Elizabeth Lockhart 

28.  How many acres will benefit from this project?    10 acres, 0.8 stream miles _____________________________  

29.  What is the total estimated project cost?   $492,763.00 ____________________________________________  

30.  Was the project specifically identified in a WWDC Watershed Study?   Yes  X No   

If yes, what was the name of the study? _______________________________________________________ 

31. Project Readiness 
Projects that have completed the following requirements prior to application may request a “Shovel-Ready” 
designation and may be considered as a funding priority at the Commission’s discretion: 
 

• Project designs and specifications 
• Permit procurement 
• State and federal agency notifications 
• Land procurement, right of way, or easement acquisition 
• Have finalized all other financial agreements 

 
31a.  Is the project seeking “Shovel-Ready” Status?    Yes  X No  
 
If No, then please continue to question # 32.  The Project Sponsor Checklists described in question #31b are not 
required at this time if you are not seeking a shovel ready designation.  
 
31b.  If yes, please complete and attach the Project Sponsor Checklist, Well Evaluation, and Hydrologic Evaluation 
forms that are available at the following website: 
 

http://wwdc.state.wy.us/small_water_projects/small_water_project.html 
 

Exhibit A to the Grant Recipient Agreement between  
the Wyoming Game and Fish Commission and 

Teton Conservation District 
Agency Agreement No.: R01165 / Grantor Project No. 2021-06 

Page 3 of 4

34



2021 APPLICATION SMALL WATER PROJECT PROGRAM PAGE 4 OF 4 
VERSION: 8/13/2020 

Additionally, please list all supporting documentation for a Shovel-Ready designation that is being attached.  (If the 
Sponsor is not seeking a Shovel-Ready designation, this section may be left blank.) 

The project is not seeking shovel-ready designation. However, the proponent has completed a high level of planning, 
permitting, and other steps. The project is one permit (a Floodplain Development Permit from the Town of Jackson, which 
requires FEMA review) away from having all required Checklist elements in hand. FEMA was not able to meet their 
committed timeline of December 01, 2020 to complete their review.  
This demonstrates preparedness to implement the project. The documentation in place includes: 

-Construction drawings
-Operations & Maintenance Plan
-Budget & Cost Estimates
-Before Photographs
-Teton County Grading and Erosion Control Permit
-CWA Section 401 Certification
-Town of Jackson (TOJ) temporary gravel extraction permit
-Wetland delineation
-Hydrologic Evaluation

32. Sage Grouse

Is the project located in a Sage Grouse Core Area or within ¼ mile from an active lek?        X No

The project location is 2.74 miles from the nearest Sage Grouse Core Area. 

The project location is 8.22 miles from the nearest active lek.  

33. Project Location Map

A project location map is required for application consideration.  Please attach a project location map to this 
application and submit both documents on or before January 1st.  

Please see attached 

Exhibit A to the Grant Recipient Agreement between  
the Wyoming Game and Fish Commission and 

Teton Conservation District 
Agency Agreement No.: R01165 / Grantor Project No. 2021-06 

Page 4 of 4

35



RN033121/F 

Project Agreement Between the Wyoming Water Development Commission and Teton Conservation District 
South Flat Creek Channel Restoration Phase II Project 

Page 1 of 8 

PROJECT AGREEMENT 
MSC No. _______________ 

SOUTH FLAT CREEK CHANNEL RESTORATION PHASE II PROJECT 

1. Parties.  The parties to this Agreement are the STATE OF WYOMING, acting by and
through the WYOMING WATER DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION, (Commission),
whose address is: 6920 Yellowtail Road, Cheyenne, WY 82002 and the TETON
CONSERVATION DISTRICT, Teton County, Wyoming, a duly organized conservation
district existing under the laws of that state (Sponsor), whose address is: 420 West Pearl,
Jackson, WY 83001.

2. Purpose of Agreement.  The purpose of this Agreement is to authorize the design and
construction of a small water development project and specify terms for the project. The
following project is hereby authorized and financed according to the terms of enacted
legislation and this Agreement:

(a) South Flat Creek Channel Restoration Phase II Project [Project]; and

(b) Appurtenances necessary to make the Project complete and function in the manner
intended.

3. Term of Agreement.  This Agreement is effective when all parties have executed it
(Effective Date).  The term of this Agreement is from the Effective Date until all provisions
and conditions set forth herein have been satisfied.

4. Special Provisions.

A. The Commission approved a grant to the Sponsor of not more than THIRTY-FIVE
THOUSAND DOLLARS ($35,000.00) or fifty percent (50%) of the actual
development costs, whichever is less, which shall be disbursed to the Sponsor
according to the terms of this Agreement. The Sponsor is responsible for acquiring
the remaining fifty percent (50%) of the Project funds from other sources.

B. The Sponsor is responsible for acquiring, and shall submit to the Commission, all
necessary public access agreements, permits, plans, specifications, change orders,
operation and maintenance plans, funding participation and construction budgets,
and any other document deemed necessary by the Commission.  The Commission
shall have a reasonable time to examine the documents and submit comments. If
the plans and specifications require modifications, or if the proposed Project cannot
be constructed with the funds available, the Sponsor shall be informed in writing
and the Sponsor shall have a reasonable time to provide such information as may
be required by the Commission, make authorized alterations to the proposed Project
that are necessary to provide the Commission with a reasonable expectation that
the Project may be constructed with the funds available, or terminate the Project.

Exhibit B to the Grant Recipient Agreement between 
the Wyoming Game and Fish Commission and 

Teton Conservation District 
Agency Agreement No.: R01165 / Grantor Project No. 2021-06 

Page 1 of 8

Exhibit B - Wyoming Water Development Commission Agreement
36



RN033121/F 

Project Agreement Between the Wyoming Water Development Commission and Teton Conservation District  
South Flat Creek Channel Restoration Phase II Project 

Page 2 of 8 

C. If the Commission determines that the Sponsor has met all necessary requirements 
described in Section 4(B) of this Agreement and the conditions of the Small Water 
Project Program Operating Criteria, the Commission shall notify the Sponsor that 
construction may commence. The Commission shall not reimburse the Sponsor for 
construction costs incurred prior to the receipt of the notice to proceed with 
construction from the Commission. 

 
D. The Sponsor shall complete the Project and shall be responsible for operation and 

maintenance of the Project in accordance with accepted engineering practices.  The 
Sponsor shall be responsible for all operation, maintenance, and repair expenses, 
including labor. The Sponsor shall complete the Project no later than December 
31, 2023, and shall have settled all claims and paid all Project expenses by said 
date.  No funds shall be paid by the Commission after said date specified, and the 
Sponsor shall be solely responsible for payment of any expenses incurred or claims 
received after said date.  
 

E. Funds disbursed under this Agreement may only be used as approved by the 
Commission to defray costs identified in the final plans and specifications or 
authorized by approved change orders to pay for permit procurement, Project land 
procurement, or design or construction engineering services essential to 
construction of the Project.  Necessary and reasonable Project expenses or costs not 
directly identified above require prior written approval by the Commission. 
 

F. Prior to the disbursement of any funds, the Sponsor shall submit to the Commission 
a certified pay request, signed contractor invoices, before and after photos of the 
individual component, latitude and longitude coordinates, as built drawings, and 
any applicable finalized State Engineer’s Office paperwork. Prior to the final 
payment, the Sponsor shall submit to the Commission an operation and 
maintenance plan, signed contractor invoices, and a certified payment request to 
the Commission, including: a Notice of Final Payment; affidavit of publication 
documenting final settlement as required under W.S. 16-6-116 if the Sponsor 
determines the Project meets the definition of a "public work" as defined in W.S. 
16-6-101(ix); before, during, and after photographs of the Project; certified as-
constructed Project plans or a letter from the engineer certifying the Project is 
functioning in the manner intended; latitude/longitude coordinates; and finalized 
State Engineer’s Office paperwork for any wells constructed.  Requests for 
payment shall be certified by the Sponsor or its designated representative and 
accompanied by material invoices.  Upon approval of the payment requests by the 
Commission, requests will be processed and disbursements will be delivered to a 
representative of the Sponsor. The Sponsor shall use funds disbursed by the 
Commission immediately upon receipt and in strict accordance with the requests 
for payment submitted by the Sponsor and approved by the Commission.   

 
Payments made by the Commission shall be coordinated with all other Sponsor 
funding sources, including in-kind contributions, so that the total amount provided 
to the Sponsor from all funding sources shall not exceed ONE-HUNDRED 

Exhibit B to the Grant Recipient Agreement between 
the Wyoming Game and Fish Commission and 

Teton Conservation District 
Agency Agreement No.: R01165 / Grantor Project No. 2021-06 

Page 2 of 8

37



RN033121/F 

Project Agreement Between the Wyoming Water Development Commission and Teton Conservation District  
South Flat Creek Channel Restoration Phase II Project 

Page 3 of 8 

PERCENT (100%) of total Project costs. Total Project costs may include the value 
of any in-kind contributions for the installation of Project materials purchased 
specifically for the Project, as documented by invoice and determined by the 
Commission. For the purposes of calculating total Project costs, in-kind 
contributions shall not exceed FIFTY-PERCENT (50%) of total Project costs. The 
total amount provided to the Sponsor shall not exceed FIFTY PERCENT (50%) of 
total Project costs.  

 
G. Representatives of the Commission shall have the right of ingress and egress to 

enter upon the premises at any time, for the purpose of inspection for the life 
expectancy of the Project. If the Sponsor does not own the premises upon which 
the Project is located, or does not own access to the Project, the Sponsor shall obtain 
written permission from the landowner(s) of the premises on which the Project is 
located, and any land needed for access to the Project, for representatives of the 
Commission to have access to the Project for inspection purposes, and the ability 
to collect necessary resource data, as defined by Wyo. Stat. § 6-3-414(e)(iv). 

 
H. If through any cause, either party shall fail to fulfill in a timely and proper manner 

its obligations under this Agreement, or if either party shall violate any of the 
covenants, agreements, or stipulations of this document, the other party shall 
thereupon have the right to terminate this Agreement if such default or violation is 
not corrected within thirty (30) days after submitting written notice to the defaulting 
party.  If the Commission determines that the Sponsor has, without good cause, 
abandoned completion of the Project, the Sponsor shall be obligated to immediately 
repay the full amount of all grant funds actually expended plus interest as 
established by the State Auditor in an amount equal to the interest that would have 
accrued on the expended grant funds in the water development account from the 
date of expenditure. 

 
Notwithstanding the above, the Sponsor shall not be relieved of liability to the 
Commission for damages sustained by the Commission by virtue of any breach of 
this Agreement by the Sponsor, and the Commission may withhold any payments 
to the Sponsor for the purposes of offset until such time as the exact amount of 
damages due the Commission from the Sponsor is determined.  In the event of 
default or the Sponsor's negligent or intentional failure to complete the Project, the 
Commission shall have the right of offset against any State of Wyoming accounts 
or sources of funding designated for use by, or on behalf of the Sponsor for the full 
amount owed to the Commission pursuant to this Agreement. 

 
5. General Provisions. 
 

A. Amendments.  Any changes, modifications, revisions or amendments to this 
Agreement which are mutually agreed upon by the parties to this Agreement shall 
be incorporated by written instrument, executed by all parties to this Agreement. 

 

Exhibit B to the Grant Recipient Agreement between 
the Wyoming Game and Fish Commission and 

Teton Conservation District 
Agency Agreement No.: R01165 / Grantor Project No. 2021-06 

Page 3 of 8

38



RN033121/F 

Project Agreement Between the Wyoming Water Development Commission and Teton Conservation District  
South Flat Creek Channel Restoration Phase II Project 

Page 4 of 8 

B. Applicable Law, Rules of Construction, and Venue.  The construction, 
interpretation and enforcement of this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of 
the State of Wyoming, without regard to conflicts of law principles. The terms 
“hereof,” “hereunder,” “herein,” and words of similar import, are intended to refer 
to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision or part. The Courts 
of the State of Wyoming shall have jurisdiction over this Agreement and the parties. 
The venue shall be the First Judicial District, Laramie County, Wyoming.   

 
C. Audit and Access to Records.  If at any time after execution of this Agreement 

and before one (1) year after the date of final payment to the Sponsor, the 
Commission requests an audit of funds disbursed, the Sponsor agrees to submit to 
and cooperate with the audit conducted by duly authorized representatives of the 
Commission. The Commission and its representatives shall have access to any 
books, documents, papers, electronic data, and records of the Sponsor which are 
pertinent to this Agreement.   

 
D. Availability of Funds.  Each payment obligation of the Commission is conditioned 

upon the availability of government funds which are appropriated or allocated for 
the payment of this obligation and which may be limited for any reason including, 
but not limited to, congressional, legislative, gubernatorial, or administrative 
action. If funds are not allocated and available for continued performance of the 
Agreement, the Agreement may be terminated by the Commission at the end of the 
period for which the funds are available. The Commission shall notify the Sponsor 
at the earliest possible time of the services which will or may be affected by a 
shortage of funds.  No penalty shall accrue to the Commission in the event this 
provision is exercised, and the Commission shall not be obligated or liable for any 
future payments due or for any damages as a result of termination under this section.   

 
E. Compliance with Laws.  The Sponsor shall keep informed of and comply with all 

applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations, and all federal grant 
requirements and executive orders in the performance of this Agreement, including 
but not limited to laws and regulations governing assessment processes, public 
bidding, and public works.  The Sponsor shall comply with all resident and other 
preference requirements, including but not limited to those applicable to labor, 
materials and subcontractors. 

 
F. Entirety of Agreement.  This Agreement, consisting of eight (8) pages, represents 

the entire and integrated Agreement between the parties and supersedes all prior 
negotiations, representations, and agreements, whether written or oral. 

 
G. Extensions.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be interpreted or deemed to create an 

expectation that this Agreement will be extended beyond the term described herein. 
Any extension of this Agreement shall be initiated by the Agency and shall be 
accomplished through a written amendment between the parties entered into before  

Exhibit B to the Grant Recipient Agreement between 
the Wyoming Game and Fish Commission and 

Teton Conservation District 
Agency Agreement No.: R01165 / Grantor Project No. 2021-06 

Page 4 of 8

39



RN033121/F 

Project Agreement Between the Wyoming Water Development Commission and Teton Conservation District  
South Flat Creek Channel Restoration Phase II Project 

Page 5 of 8 

the expiration of the original Agreement or any valid amendment thereto, and shall 
be effective only after it is reduced to writing and executed by all parties to the 
Agreement. 

 
H. Force Majeure. Neither party shall be liable for failure to perform under this 

Agreement if such failure to perform arises out of causes beyond the control and 
without the fault or negligence of the nonperforming party. Such causes may 
include, but are not limited to, acts of God or the public enemy, fires, floods, 
epidemics, quarantine restrictions, freight embargoes, and unusually severe 
weather. This provision shall become effective only if the party failing to perform 
immediately notifies the other party of the extent and nature of the problem, limits 
delay in performance to that required by the event, and takes all reasonable steps to 
minimize delays. 

 
I. Indemnification.  Each party to this Agreement shall assume the risk of any 

liability arising from its own conduct.  Neither party agrees to insure, defend, or 
indemnify the other. 

 
J. Independent Contractor.  The Sponsor shall function as an independent 

contractor for the purposes of this Agreement and shall not be considered an 
employee of the State of Wyoming for any purpose.  Consistent with the express 
terms of this Agreement, the Sponsor shall be free from control or direction over 
the details of the performance of services under this Agreement.  The Sponsor shall 
assume sole responsibility for any debts or liabilities that may be incurred by the 
Sponsor in fulfilling the terms of this Agreement and shall be solely responsible for 
the payment of all federal, state, and local taxes which may accrue because of this 
Agreement.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be interpreted as authorizing the 
Sponsor or its agents or employees to act as an agent or representative for or on 
behalf of the State of Wyoming or the Commission or to incur any obligation of 
any kind on behalf of the State of Wyoming or the Commission.  The Sponsor 
agrees that no health or hospitalization benefits, workers’ compensation, 
unemployment insurance or similar benefits available to State of Wyoming 
employees will inure to the benefit of the Sponsor or the Sponsor’s agents or 
employees as a result of this Agreement. 
 

K. Notices.  All notices arising out of, or from, the provisions of this Agreement shall 
be in writing either by regular mail or delivery in person at the addresses provided 
under this Agreement. 
 

L. Nondiscrimination.  The Sponsor shall comply with the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 
the Wyoming Fair Employment Practices Act (Wyo. Stat. § 27-9-105, et seq.), the 
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq., and the Age 
Discrimination Act of 1975 and any properly promulgated rules and regulations 
thereto and shall not discriminate against any individual on the grounds of age, sex, 
color, race, religion, national origin or disability in connection with the 
performance under this Agreement. 

Exhibit B to the Grant Recipient Agreement between 
the Wyoming Game and Fish Commission and 

Teton Conservation District 
Agency Agreement No.: R01165 / Grantor Project No. 2021-06 

Page 5 of 8

40



RN033121/F 

Project Agreement Between the Wyoming Water Development Commission and Teton Conservation District  
South Flat Creek Channel Restoration Phase II Project 

Page 6 of 8 

M. Prior Approval.  This Agreement shall not be binding upon either party, no 
services shall be performed, and the Wyoming State Auditor shall not draw 
warrants for payment, until this Agreement has been fully executed, approved as to 
form by the Office of the Attorney General, filed with and approved by A&I 
Procurement, and approved by the Governor of the State of Wyoming, or his 
designee, if required by Wyo. Stat. § 9-2-1016(b)(iv). 

 
N. Severability.  Should any portion of this Agreement be judicially determined to be 

illegal or unenforceable, the remainder of the Agreement shall continue in full force 
and effect, and the parties may renegotiate the terms affected by the severance. 

O. Sovereign Immunity and Limitations.  Pursuant to Wyo. Stat. § 1-39-104(a), the 
State of Wyoming and the Commission expressly reserve sovereign immunity by 
entering into this Agreement and the Sponsor expressly reserves governmental 
immunity. Each of them specifically retains all immunities and defenses available 
to them as sovereigns or governmental entities pursuant to Wyo. Stat. § 1-39-101, 
et seq., and all other applicable law. The parties acknowledge that the State of 
Wyoming has sovereign immunity and only the Wyoming Legislature has the 
power to waive sovereign immunity. Designations of venue, choice of law, 
enforcement actions, and similar provisions shall not be construed as a waiver of 
sovereign immunity.  The parties agree that any ambiguity in this Agreement shall 
not be strictly construed, either against or for either party, except that any ambiguity 
as to immunity shall be construed in favor of immunity. 

P. Third-Party Beneficiary Rights.  The parties do not intend to create in any other 
individual or entity the status of third-party beneficiary, and this Agreement shall 
not be construed so as to create such status.  The rights, duties, and obligations 
contained in this Agreement shall operate only between the parties to this 
Agreement and shall inure solely to the benefit of the parties to this Agreement. 
The provisions of this Agreement are intended only to assist the parties in 
determining and performing their obligations under this Agreement.   
 

Q. Time is of the Essence.  Time is of the essence in all provisions of this Agreement. 
 
R. Titles Not Controlling.  Titles of sections and subsections are for reference only 

and shall not be used to construe the language in this Agreement. 
 

S. Waiver.  The waiver of any breach of any term or condition in this Agreement shall 
not be deemed a waiver of any prior or subsequent breach. Failure to object to a 
breach shall not constitute a waiver. 
 

T. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in counterparts. Each 
counterpart, when executed and delivered, shall be deemed an original and all 
counterparts together shall constitute one and the same Agreement. Delivery by the  

 

Exhibit B to the Grant Recipient Agreement between 
the Wyoming Game and Fish Commission and 

Teton Conservation District 
Agency Agreement No.: R01165 / Grantor Project No. 2021-06 

Page 6 of 8

41



RN033121/F 

Project Agreement Between the Wyoming Water Development Commission and Teton Conservation District  
South Flat Creek Channel Restoration Phase II Project 

Page 7 of 8 

Sponsor of an originally signed counterpart of this Agreement by PDF shall be 
followed up immediately by delivery of the originally signed counterpart to the 
Commission. 

 
THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE WAS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

Exhibit B to the Grant Recipient Agreement between 
the Wyoming Game and Fish Commission and 

Teton Conservation District 
Agency Agreement No.: R01165 / Grantor Project No. 2021-06 

Page 7 of 8

42



RN033121/F 

Project Agreement Between the Wyoming Water Development Commission and Teton Conservation District  
South Flat Creek Channel Restoration Phase II Project 

Page 8 of 8 

6. Signatures.  The parties to this Agreement, either personally or through their duly
authorized representatives, have executed this Agreement on the dates set out below, and 
certify that they have read, understood, and agreed to the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement. 

 
 The Effective Date of this Agreement is the date of the signature last affixed to this page. 
 
 
WYOMING WATER DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION: 
 
 
_________________________________________________  __________________ 
Chairman  Date    
 
 
_________________________________________________  __________________ 
Secretary         Date    
 
 
TETON CONSERVATION DISTRICT: 
 
 
_________________________________________________  __________________ 
Steve McDonald, Chairman  Date    
 
 
_________________________________________________  __________________ 
Roby Hurley, Secretary  Date    
 
 
ATTORNEY GENERAL'S OFFICE: APPROVAL AS TO FORM 
 
 
_________________________________________________  __________________ 
Megan Pope, Senior Assistant Attorney General    Date    

Exhibit B to the Grant Recipient Agreement between 
the Wyoming Game and Fish Commission and 

Teton Conservation District 
Agency Agreement No.: R01165 / Grantor Project No. 2021-06 

Page 8 of 8

43



44



45



46



47



48



Morgan Graham, GIS Wildlife Specialist 
Information Items: 
Program Area: Wildlife 

• Greater Sage-grouse: Upper Snake River Basin Local Working Group met to review 
seasonal lek counts from the Jackson Hole Core Area (JHCA). Wyoming Game and Fish 
Department (WGFD) Sage Grouse/Sagebrush Biologist, Leslie Schreiber relayed that 
WGFD, and other land management agencies had established a new statistical method for 
assessing the stability of a sage-grouse core area. The new method further confirms that 
the sage-grouse population of the JHCA has declined significantly enough over the past 
three years to hit a “hard trigger”. Per Wyoming Executive Order this status requires the 
statewide Adaptive Management Working Group to develop a response strategy within 
90 days. 

• Nature Mapping: Presented to a group of Nature Mapping trainees regarding function 
and importance of habitat within of the Snake River corridor for amphibians. 

• Denizens of the Steep: The film supported by a FY 2021 TCD PIC Grant, highlighting 
challenges between bighorn sheep and winter recreation, won first place in “2% for 
Conservation’s” Conservation Media Awards. 

• Breeding Bird Survey: Completed fourth year of the Moose Route of the United States 
Geological Survey’s Breeding Bird Survey. 

 
Program Area: Vegetation 

• University of Michigan: Facilitated a field tour for University of Michigan 
undergraduates and professors. Topics centered on plant identification, native plant 
restoration, and career guidance. Susan Marsh and Grand Teton National Park staff also 
presented. 

• Native Plant Overviews: Responded to 6 landowner site visits. 
• The Nature Conservancy: Assisted Trevor Bloom, staff from Teton Botanical Garden, 

and volunteers with transplant of native plant seedlings and weed removal along the 
National Museum of Wildlife Art sculpture trail. 

• Astoria Park Conservancy (APC): Coordinated with Coombs Outdoors and APC staff 
to lead three service projects applying mechanical weed control on APC property. 

 
Program Area: Geographic Information Systems 

• Lidar: Woolpert Inc. re-flew several flight lines that fell short of specifications. Ground 
control surveys are underway. Fielding questions from agencies and the private sector 
regarding quality and availability of the finished product. Data will be delivered in a 1 
km2 grid. Finished products are expected late spring to early summer, 2022. 

 
Operations Area: Communications 

• Nature Notebook: Filmed episode focused on bird songs. 
• Munger Elementary (ME): Met with staff from Teton County Weed and Pest and the 

National Elk Refuge to tour habitat surrounding ME. Discussing opportunities for 
developing native plant community curriculum to address Next Generation Science 
Standards. 

Operations Area: Administration  

49



• Plan of Work: Completed GIS, Wildlife, and Vegetation sections towards 
implementation of the TCD 2020 – 2025 Strategic and Long-range Plans for the FY 2022 
TCD, Plan of Work. 

• Annual/Personal Leave: I took 4 days of annual leave. 

50



Emily Smith, Natural Resources Technician 
Information Items:  
Program Area: Water Resources 

• Flat Creek: Assisted Carlin with preparing, programming, and deploying Flat Creek 
temperature loggers in the creek at four locations; the north-end of town, Karns Meadow, 
Rafter J and South Park. The loggers will hopefully take hourly measurements of the 
temperature of Flat Creek over the course of the summer.  

• Water Quality Monitoring Field and Re-certification Training: I attended a one-day 
water quality training in Lander. This training covered stream macroinvertebrates 
collection and identification, collection of stream data including measuring flow and 
discharge, calibration of instruments, as well as quality assurance and control in water 
quality monitoring. The training was organized by the Wyoming Association of 
Conservation Districts with assistance from Wyoming Department of Environmental 
Quality. 

Program Area: Communications 
• Snowpack and Discharge Blogpost: Worked with Carlin and Phoebe on the content and 

to create the snowpack and discharge plots included in What’s Up with Water? A Look at 
Snowpack and Discharge. The plots compared the snowpack of the Upper Snake River 
Watershed and the discharge of the Snake River south of town for this water year in 
comparison with 2016, 2001 and the overall median. The blog post highlighted the 
information illustrated in the plots, especially in relation to the drought declaration. 

• Community Outreach: Phoebe and I managed an event table at the WildWalls Opening 
event. Teton Conservation District is a sponsor of the WildWalls project while other 
organizations sponsored specific artworks. Phoebe and I as well as Bri Agenbroad of 
Trout Unlimited also had a booth for the Clean Water Coalition at the People’s Market on 
June 23rd, 2021 where we advertised the Trout Friendly Lawns Program. Over the course 
of the two events, ten lawns were certified as Trout Friendly. 

 
Program Area: Geographic Information Systems (GIS) 

• Teton County Ownership Layer: I downloaded the updated ownership information 
from the Teton County Map Server. Using this I was able to update our ArcGIS 
Ownership layer, including designating the private and public lands. The majority of the 
public lands were able to be classified to their agency. 

• Surface Water Inventory: I downloaded and catalogued maps from the State Engineers 
Office for the Buffalo Valley area. This will aid in the updating of the information and 
data for the Buffalo Valley area private lands in the Surface Water Inventory. 

51



52



Carlin Girard, Water Resource Specialist and Associate Director 
Action Items: 
Program Area: Water 
USGS Flat Creek Sediment Study Funding: It has come to my attention that I omitted to 
correctly budget for the final phase of the USGS Flat Creek Sediment Study. Funding for the 
finalization and publication of the USGS Flat Creek Sediment Study has already been 
contractually obligated; however, the associated funding is not present in our budget. This action 
item seeks to identify the portion of the TCD budget where these funds shall be sourced. 
Recommended Motion: Move to dedicate $19,500 of the TCD Partnering Fund to the USGS 
Flat Creek Sediment Study.  
 
Information Items:  
Program Area: Water  

• Drought Conditions: 1) I have been compiling local hydrology data regarding the 
current water year. The Upper Snake River Watershed continues to set 30-year record 
daily low water-levels for most of our gaged streams. 2) I am working on outreach 
material with the Town of Jackson pertaining to drought and water conservation. 3) 
Addressing Board interest, Emily and I developed the plot below depicting groundwater 
depths of an upgradient well at the Jackson Hole Airport. Similar to local stream flows, 
current groundwater depth at this location is setting record lows for this date, based on 
the well’s somewhat short 10-year period of record.  

 
• Town and County Water Initiatives: I am very pleased to introduce the onset of a few 

largescale planning efforts aimed at improving water resources management in the 
region. 1) The Town of Jackson has just released two Requests for Qualifications for 
water projects. One is for the development of a Stormwater Master Plan; the other is for a 

Figure 1:  2021 groundwater depth compared to 2010-2020 
groundwater depth average and range. 

53



review of the Jackson Wastewater Treatment Facility. 2) Teton County just released a 
Request for Qualifications for Comprehensive Water Quality Management Program. The 
initial phase of this project is intended to be Wastewater Planning.  

• Hoback Water District Formation: Progress continues to be made by property owners 
in Hoback Junction to create a special district. Information about their goals can be found 
at www.hobackwater.org. They are using the name Hoback Clean Water Initiative. I 
expect that a funding request will be submitted to TCD in the coming months to assist 
with startup cost-share. 

• Wyoming Department of Environmental Quality (WDEQ), Hoback Nitrate 
Investigation: 1) I have been working on assembling and presenting existing 
groundwater data from the study area. 2) TCD, Teton County, and WDEQ hosted an 
online public meeting to introduce the scope of the Hoback Nitrate Investigation. It was 
relatively well attended. 

• WDEQ Fish Creek Nutrient Assessment: WDEQ has a draft final assessment report 
regarding nutrient enrichment in Fish Creek that is at the internal review phase. Based on 
their progress, this fall I would like to draft a grant request to the WDEQ Non-Point 
Source Program it assist with funding for watershed planning. A watershed plan for Fish 
Creek is long overdue and is needed because no record exists of work that has been 
completed in the watershed, the data that has been collected, or the best practices that 
have been prioritized.  

• US Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) Site Visit: Tom and I attended a site visit by 
the acting Colonel of Walla Walla District of the USACE, Richard Childers. Because the 
Colonel is a revolving position that oversees all operations, site visits are important tools 
to help bring the new Colonel up to speed. We toured levee sites, discussed operations, 
and were lucky enough to witness Snake River Cutthroat Trout spawning in a Gros Vente 
River side channel. I was encouraged by Colonel Childers’ interest and intuition 
regarding local water topics. 

• Flat Creek Stream Habitat: I have been in discussion with the property manager for a 
streamside parcel along Flat Creek who is interested in addressing stream bank erosion 
and degradation issues. The location does have streambank issues and I look forward to 
bringing forward a line-item grant request in the future. 

• Private Water Quality Testing: I have fielded numerous requests for assistance 
organizing specialized water testing of surface and groundwater by private entities. The 
approach I have taken is to help the interested party define their testing needs and help 
them convey these needs to regional water quality labs for bids. Once I receive bids, I 
simply pass them along the client and encourage them to follow-up with lab of their 
choice. 

54

http://www.hobackwater.org/


Phoebe Coburn, Communications Specialist 
 
Action Items:  
Operations Area: Communications   

• Voices JH: Voices JH is a group that was founded in March 2020 with support from the 
Community Foundation of JH and LegacyWorks Group in response to the need for 
disseminating COVID-19 public health and community support information to limited-
English speaking communities in Teton County. Voices JH staff consists of one program 
director and a team of eight ‘community mobilizers’ from Teton County's Mexican, 
Moldovan, and Romanian communities. Each week, the mobilizers share three messages 
(Mon., Wed., and Fri.) with their network of over 300 non-English speaking families 
from 13 different countries. The messaging is shared with families in their preferred 
language through graphics, videos, and web links. Information is shared via text message, 
phone calls, social media, and by directly connecting families to local organizations. The 
group found that their platform for information delivery was so successful that they have 
expanded to work with ‘partnering organizations’ to distribute information on a variety of 
topics. Find full list of partners at www.voicesjh.org/partners. 

 
Voices JH has welcomed TCD to join as a partnering organization, which means that 
TCD staff would work with Voices JH staff to produce three to five messages a year. The 
content is short and digestible (see Supplemental Materials). TCD’s 2020-2025 Long-
Range Plan has a Communications Desired Outcome to see diverse community members 
engaged with TCD, providing input on priorities and programs. Membership in Voices 
JH would give TCD the opportunity to elevate our partners’ messaging, as well as our 
own messaging, through this platform. The financial contribution for the remainder of 
2021 is proposed at $1,000. This means the cost of each message (2-3 in 2021 at ~$330-
$500 per message) would be roughly the cost of one ¼ page color ad in the JH News& 
Guide or one Buckrail Sponsored Post, but reaches a different audience.  
 
Recommended Motion: Move to approve Teton Conservation District joining Voices 
JH as a partnering organization and allocate $1,000 for the remainder of the 2021 
calendar year from the Communications-Advertising line-item of the FY2022 TCD 
budget.  

 
Information Items:  
Operations Area: Communications   

• What is Teton Conservation District? Whiteboard Video: I’m proud to say that the 
TCD Whiteboard video got 113 views on our website/YouTube, 108 views on Instagram, 
and 3045 people saw the post on Facebook, and 618 of those people watched 15 seconds 
or more of the video (the high number of views of Facebook is thanks to Buckrail sharing 
the video, which we paid for through a Sponsored Post). I’m encouraged by these initial 
numbers and am confident over the long-term this video will be a great tool for us.  

• Morgan’s Nature Notebook: Morgan and I filmed a new episode “Birding by Ear.” I’m 
close to done with editing; it should be completed by the board meeting. All episodes can 
be found at www.tetonconservation.org/fieldnotes.   

55

http://www.voicesjh.org/partners
http://www.tetonconservation.org/fieldnotes


• Events: 1) TCD hosted tables at the People’s Market and WildWalls Opening 
Celebration; thanks to Emily Smith for her help. 2) As part of WildWalls, I was invited to 
present at the Teton Pines/Thursday Ladies Roundtable lunch hosted at the Center for the 
Arts. There was a lot of interest in water quality. 3) Tom and I have been making 
National Association of Conservation Districts (NACD) Meeting Sponsors requests, but 
thus far no one has committed to a sponsorship.   

• KJAX (93.5) KMTN (96.9) “This is Our Town” Radio Interview: I interviewed with 
Tom Ninneman on “This is Our Town,” a Wednesday morning radio program in which a 
representative from the Town of Jackson or a partnering organization talks about 
important local topics. Click here to listen to the interview.  

• Public Information Officer (PIO) Meeting: The PIO group got together for our first 
non-COVID focused meeting in more than a year.  

• Annual Report/Staff Photo: Big thanks to Jan Segerstrom and Tom for hosting the TCD 
staff at their home for our staff photo to go in the 2021 Annual Report. Content creation 
for the Annual Report is just beginning now.  

 
Operations Area: Grants   

• Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) Grants: The new MOA grant tracking system, 
standardized forms etc. have been finalized. The 12 MOA Grant Award Letters for FY22 
have been delivered using the new template. The system will be introduced to the TCD 
auditors this summer. 
 

Program Area: Water  
• Jackson Hole Clean Water Coalition (JHCWC): 1) I’ve managed JHCWC’s social 

media for the past couple years. As part of the new contract with LegacyWorks Group, 
that responsibility has been shifted to Tony Ferlisi of LegacyWorks Group. I will still 
contribute social media content, but am relived of the account management duty. 2) Press 
release/web updates/social media announcement of 2021 Trout Friendly businesses was 
published. 3) I remotely presented to the coalition of agencies and nonprofits in Park City 
that are launching their own Trout Friendly Lawns program.  

• Karns Meadow Sign: The Karns Meadow educational sign is being fabricated right 
now. We’re on track for an early- to mid-August installation, before the National 
Association of Conservation Districts regional convention in Jackson.  

• Snowpack/Discharge Blog Post: Don’t miss Carlin and Emily Smith’s great blog post: 
www.tetonconservation.org/blog/2021/6/10/whats-up-with-water-a-look-at-snowpack-
and-discharge. We will continue to update and disseminate drought information 
throughout the summer.  

• Hoback Nitrate Investigation Public Meeting: Assisted a small amount with the press 
release, social media, video recording, etc. for the Hoback meeting held on July 8, 2021. 

 
Program Area: Wildlife  

• Jackson Hole Wildlife Foundation (JHWF): Morgan and I met up with Renee Seidler 
and Kyle Kissock to put up TCD and JHWF stickers on the speed radar signs in Wilson 
funded in part by TCD. The associated social media post got a good response.  

56

file://file1/Docs/Administration/Board%20Meetings%20-%20Packets%20&%20General/FY%202022%20Board%20Packets/July_2021/Staff%20Reports/%E2%80%A2https:/soundcloud.com/carl-pelletier-638546785/phoebe-coburn-this-is-our-town-july-7
http://www.tetonconservation.org/blog/2021/6/10/whats-up-with-water-a-look-at-snowpack-and-discharge
http://www.tetonconservation.org/blog/2021/6/10/whats-up-with-water-a-look-at-snowpack-and-discharge


Program Area: Vegetation  
• Woods’ Rose: A landscaper had an excess of Woods’ Rose. Morgan and I collected the 

container plants and through social media posts, gave them away to the public. We were 
encouraged by the enthusiasm people showed for native plants on social media.  

Operations Area: Administration  
• Plan of Work: I completed by FY22 Plan of Work. The project I am most looking 

forward to working on this year is the Good Resident Handbook. 

57



58



 

 

59



  

 

  

60



Tom Segerstrom, Executive Director 
Action items: 
Operations Area: Administration 

• COVID Benefit Carry Over: Last year in June the Supervisors graciously allowed staff 
to carry over FY 2020 unused annual leave above the annual carry over cap for one year 
to account for the pandemic, which ended the final four months of FY 2020 with 
everyone sheltering in place and working remotely. The pandemic continued for nearly 9 
months of FY 2021 so that staff struggled to use the carry over vacation time. As of June 
25, 2021, some staff still had remnant vacation time levels slightly above the annual cap.   
Recommended Motion: Move to allow staff to carry over their accrued Annual Leave 
that is above the annual cap of 10 days for one additional year from FY 2021 through FY 
2022. 

 
Program Area: Water 

• Flat Creek Watershed Improvement District (FCWID), Board Appointment: There 
is a need for the TCD to approve the FCWID’s newest board member LizAnn Eisen, who 
is replacing Nannette Beckley. Liz Anne was present at the TCD/FCWID Quarterly 
meeting (See Supplemental Materials). 
Recommended Motion: Move to approve LizAnn Eisen as a replacement board member 
for the Flat Creek Watershed Improvement District until she can be formally voted upon 
by the member of the district in November 2021. 

 
Information Items: 
Operations Area: Administration 

• FY2022 Plans of Work: Staff has been developing the FY 2022 Plans of Work for each 
staff member, which is being compiled into the final plan. (Copies will be available at the 
July 2021 meeting). 

• Wyoming Association of Conservation Districts (WACD): 
o NACD Pacific and Southwestern Regional Convention: TCD is responsible for 

wrangling potential $500-$1,500 sponsorships from local entities, clearing 
Farmstead Ciders with Snow King Resort for co-hosting the first night reception 
and arranging and conducting the 4-hour site tour with buses on the afternoon of 
August 31, 2021. Attendance by the TCD board during the convention will be 
much appreciated. 

 
Operations Area: Grants 

• Memorandum Of Agreement (MOA) Partner Grants: I assisted Phoebe and all staff 
in completing the upgraded version and system of MOA Partner Grants. Fiscal Year 2022 
MOA grant award letters were drafted and sent to all MOA partners for their signature. 
Phoebe has created an excellent standardization and tracking system. One that we are 
proud to review with auditors in August 2021. 

 
Program Area: Water 

• Interagency US Army Corps of Engineers meeting: Carlin and I joined the meeting. 
There was an eager response to the availability of new QL1 Lidar. It was also noted that 
additional federal funds for more SnowTel sites could be available if it would aid in 

61



annual predictive water management strategies. I noted that TCD would like the existing 
SnowTel sites to be fully funded by the federal government and that there is a lack of low 
elevation sites even though low elevation snowpack plays an important role in late-
winter, early-spring flooding.   
 

Program Area: Land 
• Planning and Development, Fencing Regulations: The proposed fencing regulation 

amendment was presented by the planning Department to the County Planning 
Commission July 13, 2021. Morgan and I were in attendance to answer any questions 
about TCD’s comments on the proposal. The Commission remanded the proposal back to 
staff to create language to better address horse owner fencing desires and provide 
evidentiary documentation for some of the non-agricultural fence design thresholds. I 
received comment from an agricultural producer that adjacent residential properties 
should be prohibited from using wildlife friendly designs if they abut livestock operations 
including horses.  
 

Program Area: Sustainability 
• Energy Conservation Works (ECW) and Yellowstone-Teton Clean Cities (YTCC): 

Phoebe and I attended the ribbon cutting for the Grand Teton National Park CNG Refuse 
hauling truck funded through the Volkswagen Settlement Fund. Local elected officials 
were present.  

 
 

• Integrated Solid Waste and Recycling (ISWR): The recycling center is experiencing 
staff turnover and hiring difficulties, so they have reduced their hours of operations and 
cancelled recycling collection and pick-ups in Hoback Junction.  

62



FLAT CREEK WATERSHED IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
PO Box 2037 Jackson, WY 83001 www.fcwid.org 

 

 
The mission of the Flat Creek Watershed Improvement District is to explore and implement ways to prevent damage to private 
property and public infrastructure due to winter flooding of Flat Creek while simultaneously respecting water rights, 
representing the best interests of the district’s property owners and residents, and maintaining and improving water and habitat 
quality within the stream corridor. 

 
 
 

July 9, 2021 
 
TCD Board of Supervisors 
Mr. Steve McDonald, Chairman 
420 West Pearl Avenue 
Jackson, WY 83001 
 
SUBJECT: Request for TCD Board Approval 
  Appointment of Ms. LizAnn Eisen to FCWID Board of Directors 
 
 
Dear Supervisor McDonald: 
 
I’m writing on behalf of the Flat Creek Watershed Improvement District to request approval from the 
Teton Conservation District Board of Supervisors for the appointment to our board of LizAnn Eisen to 
replace Nannette Beckley, who stepped down in March when she moved out of the area.  Ms. Eisen 
would serve until the upcoming election on November 2, at which time she would be eligible for 
election to finish out the remaining two years of that term or run for a full term. 
 
I have attached her application/statement of interest.  Should you have any questions or desire 
additional information regarding this matter, please feel free to contact me directly either by phone 
(208-399-2590) or email (sbuckstaffjr@gmailo.com). 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Sinclair Buckstaff, Jr., Chairman 
 
Attachments: Letter of Application/Statement of Interest from Ms. LizAnn Eisen 
 

63



 

LizabethAnn R Eisen 3117121

870W SnowKingAve JacksonWY83001

POBox 4901 JacksonWY 83001

H2ann.rogovoy gmail.com 9175390188

I live on FlatCreekAndam interested in supportingeffortsto
minimizeproperty damagewhilemaintainingandimproving waterquality
and natural habitat in thestream1watershed corridor Thewatershed
areain a valuablecommunity resourceto beprotected

I am a law professorteachingstartup law corporatefinanceand
othersubjects I haveextensivepublicserviceexperienceandwould

bring a problemsolving practicalAttitudeto theboard

I am interested in supportingtheongoingworktominimizetheneedto

useheavymachinery intheweektosolve emergency icesituations

64


	July_2022_Agenda
	June_2021_Meeting_Minutes_DRAFT_RH
	TCD June 2021 Treasurer's Report
	EH_Staff_Report_July2021(FNL)
	RS_Staff_Report_July_2021(FNL)
	RS1_SWPPagreement_FltCrk_ChnnlRstrPhaseII
	SWPP_2021_SouthFlatCreekChannelRestorationPhaseII.pdf
	APPLICATION
	21. Project Components (Please identify all applicable components.) ** = project centroid
	22. Legal Description (Optional)
	23. Project Description
	24. Public Benefit
	25. Project Participants
	31. Project Readiness
	32. Sage Grouse


	South Flat Creek Channel Restoration Phase II PA.pdf
	SOUTH FLAT CREEK CHANNEL RESTORATION PHASE II PROJECT


	RS2_SWPP_amendment_FlatCrkRestor
	MG_Staff_Report_July_2021(FNL)
	ES_Staff_Report_July2021(FNL)
	CG_Staff_Report_July_2021(FNL)
	PC_Staff_Report_July_2021(FNL)
	PC1_VoicesJH_Messaging_Examples
	Doc2
	Doc3

	TS_Staff_Report_July_2021 (FNL)
	TS1_FCWID_Appointment_Approval_07092021
	TS2_FCWID_Board_Application_LEisen_03172021
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page



